SUPREME COURT OF

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

IKEIM VASTER, ALBERT REEVES, TRISTAN BEEMAN,

Appellants-Plaintiffs,

VS.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS, DICK MORGAN, DAN PACHOLKE and BERNIE WARNER

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

RICHARD D. WALL, #16581 Attorney for Appellants

17 DEC 20 PH 1: 15

Richard D. Wall, P.S. Attorney at Law 1604 W. Dean Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 747-5646

I. Identity of Petitioner:

Ikeim Chachar Claude Vaster, Appellant, asks this court to accept review of the decision designated in Part II.

II. Decision to be Reviewed:

The Unpublished Opinion of the Court of Appeals, Division I, filed November 20, 2017, in case number 76172-2-1, a copy of which is attached hereto.

III. Issues Presented for Review:

1. Does the Washington State Department of Corrections Violate
an Offender's Due Process Rights When It Informs the Offender of the
Maximum Violation that Will Be Imposed For a Violation of Custody
Conditions and Then Imposes a Significantly Greater Sanction Upon
Finding a Violation?

ANSWER: Yes. Misleading an offender about the maximum sanction that will be imposed for a violation and then imposing a more severe sanction when a violation occurs is manifestly unfair. Even persons who have been convicted of a crime and are serving a sentence for that crime have a fundamental due process right not to be treated by the State in a manner that is manifestly unfair or arbitrary.

IV. Statement of the Case:

On April 5, 2016, Ikeim Chachar Claude Vaster filed a Class Action
Complaint for Violations of Civil Rights naming the Washington State
Department of Corrections ("DOC") as defendant and alleging causes of
action for violations of RCW 9.94A.737, violations of the Fourth and
Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution, and Unlawful
Imprisonment under Washington State law. The Complaint was later
amended to add Albert James Reeves, and Tristan Duane Beeman as
plaintiffs, and Dick Morgan, Dan Pachoke, and Bernie Warner, who had acted
as Secretary of DOC at various relevant times, as defendants.

Vaster's original Complaint alleged that DOC had unlawfully revoked his community custody status and returned him to prison for a period of 387 days as a sanction for violating his community custody conditions and set forth the following facts in support of that claim:

- On November 26, 2012, Vaster was released from prison and placed on community custody status in lieu of early release for good time credits he had earned during his incarceration.
- At the time of his release from prison, Vaster was presented with a form prepared by DOC titled "Offender Notification of Department Violation Process."
- The form was signed by Vaster and by DOC officer Jason Lerch.

- The Offender Notification form specified that the following would apply to any alleged violations of Vaster's community custody conditions:
 - 1. Your first low level violation process will be addressed with a Stipulated Agreement, unless a standard incustody hearing process is required due to aggravating circumstances.
 - 2. Subsequent low level violation processes up to 5, may be addressed through a short term confinement sanction of 1-3 days in custody, unless a standard in-custody hearing process is required due to aggravating circumstances. After 5 low level violation processes, all processes will be addressed through a standard in-custody hearings process.
 - 3. Any high level violations will be addressed through a standard in-custody hearings process.
 - 4. An in-custody hearing process will be a hearing with a Department Hearing Officer. If you are found guilty, you will receive a sanction of up to 30 days of confinement. (emphasis added)
 - On April 23, 2013, Mr. Lerch filed a Report of Violation alleging that Vaster had violated his conditions of community custody.
 - On April 25, 2013, an in-custody hearing was conducted by DOC before Hearing Examiner Joanna Prrideaux. Vaster presented no defense and was found to have violated his conditions by failing to report to his Community Corrections Officer as directed.
 - Instead of imposing a sanction of 30 days of confinement or less as
 prescribed in the Offender Notification, Hearing Examiner Prideaux
 ordered Vaster to be returned to prison to serve out the remainder of
 his sentence.

- Vaster was returned to prison where he served a total of 387 days before being released.
- Defendants' moved to dismiss the Amended Complaint under Civil
 Rule 12(b) for failure to state a claim. Defendants argued that the
 sanctions imposed were authorized under RCW 9.94A.633(2)(a) and
 that Plaintiffs lacked standing to bring suit because they had no
 liberty interest in remaining on community custody status.

The trial court granted Defendants' motion and dismissed all claims against all defendants with prejudice. The Order Granting Defendant's Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint states the following reasons in support of the trial court's decision:

The revocation sanctions imposed are authorized by RCW 9.94A.633(2)(a). Nothing in RCW 9.94A.737's "Swift and Certain" process eliminates DOC's authority to revoke community custody and to return to prison under RCW 9.94A.633. The DOC notice of the "swift and certain" program does not foreclose DOC's authority to revoke community custody under RCW 9.94A.633(2).

In an unpublished decision, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court, holding that even though the Offender Notification Form is misleading, the failure to inform an offender of the possible additional sanction of complete revocation of their community custody status did not amount to a due process violation. (Vaster v. Dept. of Corrections, No. 76172-2-1, pp. 10-11) Vaster now seeks review by this Court.

V. Argument Why Review Should Be Accepted:

This appeal presents a significant question of law of exceptional importance to the citizens of this State, in particular, those citizens who have been released from prison on community custody status and are subject to being returned to prison if they violate any condition of their release, their families and loved ones, and all other citizens who value honesty and fairness in the conduct of State officials and agencies. The Court of Appeals' ruling in this case essentially condones clearly deceptive and unfair conduct by DOC on the grounds that it is simply not egregious enough to warrant court intervention.

While acknowledging that the Offender Notification Form is misleading because offenders are given to understand that they will be subject a maximum penalty of 30 days incarceration at their first violation hearing, the Court of Appeals nevertheless concluded that DOC's actions are not sufficiently arbitrary or capricious as to violate substantive due process. Thus, according to the Court of Appeals, it matters not whether DOC knows its conduct is misleading or even that its intent is to mislead and to take advantage of offenders by reducing the offender's incentive to comply with conditions or contest an alleged violation. The fact that a state statute grants DOC authority to revoke an offender's earned early release and return the offender to prison in certain cases is sufficient, according to the Court of Appeals, to justify DOC's actions, even if those actions are misleading and detrimental to the offender.

The Court of Appeals also reasoned that, even if the Offender

Notification Form is misleading, an offender is presumed to know the law.

Therefore, the offender cannot complain that they understood they would be subject only to a maximum sanction of 30 days. In other words, the offender, knowing what the law really is, should assume that DOC does not mean what it says when it specifically states in writing what the maximum sanction will be.

That Court of Appeal's reasoning is nonsensical. If DOC is relying on the offender's independent knowledge of the law as the basis for understanding what sanctions may be imposed for a violation, what possible purpose could be served by the Offender Notification Form other than to mislead the offender? If the purpose is not to mislead, but to inform, then fundamental fairness requires that the information presented be accurate enough that the offender is not misled in a way that is detrimental to the offender.

The Court of Appeals avoids even addressing the issue of fairness by noting that RCW 9.94A.704(8) and 737(1) require DOC to notify an offender about the "Swift and Certain" process and sanctions specified under RCW 9.94A.737. However, nothing in those statutes prohibits DOC from also informing offenders that they may be subject to revocation of earned early release and returned to prison, if DOC chooses to exercise its claimed authority under RCW 9.94A.633. Presumably, the Court of Appeals did not mean to suggest that state law compels DOC to provide misleading

information to offenders who are placed in community custody in lieu of earned early release. Nevertheless, that the inescapable result of its reasoning and analysis.

Furthermore, it is not entirely clear that DOC retains authority to impose a sanction of return to prison and revocation of all earned good time credits in the circumstances presented here. RCW 9.94A.633(2)(a) allows DOC to transfer an offender to a "more restrictive confinement status" for the remainder of his or her sentence, when the offender was transferred to community custody in lieu of earned early release as was the case here. Citing, *In re Pers. Restraint of Price*, 157 Wn.App. 889, 909, 240 P.3d 188 (2010), the Court of Appeals interpreted that language to mean that DOC could revoke Vaster's earned early release and return him to prison to serve out the remainder of his sentence and that the authority to do so was independent of any authority granted under the "Swift and Certain" process mandated by RCW 9.94A.737.

Return to prison is clearly a form of confinement. In fact, it is the most restrictive form of confinement that can be imposed. At the same time, RCW 9.94.737(4) specifically provides that the *maximum* sanction that can be imposed by DOC even for a high level violation is "30 days confinement per hearing." By its plan language, RCW 9.94A.737 applies to all violation hearings conducted by DOC.

Here, Vaster was confined for 387 days as a sanction at his first and only violation hearing, more than 12 times the maximum sanction specified in

RCW 9.94A.737(4). Thus, there is a direct conflict between RCW 9.94A.737(4) and RCW 9.94A.633(2)(a). The Court of Appeals opinion disregards this apparent conflict in the statutes.

Vaster does not contend that DOC is required under the due process clause to inform offenders of the potential sanctions that may be imposed for a violation. Following the minimum due process standards established for parolees in *Morrissey v. Brewer*, 408 U.S. 471, 489, 92 S.Ct. 2593, 33 L.Ed.2d 484 (1972), Washington courts require only written notice of the alleged violation, disclosure of the evidence against the offender, the opportunity to be heard before a neutral decision maker, and the right to confront witnesses and present testimony and evidence, before sanctions can be imposed. See, *In re Pers. Restraint of McNeal*, 99 Wn. App. 628-29, 994 P.2d 890 (2000). Vaster's argument is simply that, if the State does give notice, it must do so in a way that is not deceptive or misleading. If DOC specifically informs an offender that their maximum sanction for a violation will be 30 days, then due process requires that DOC not impose any greater sanction upon finding a violation. This is nothing more than common sense.

It should concern every citizen of this State that misleading or deceptive conduct by any department or agency of the State would be countenanced by the courts when such conduct disadvantages a citizen.

Certainly, conduct that misleads a citizen by providing false information through an official document that the citizen is required to sign and acknowledge would not be viewed as consistent with due process in any other

context. It should not be here, simply because the persons who are deceived happen to be persons who have been convicted of a crime.

VI. Conclusion:

For the foregoing reasons, this court should accept review, reverse the decision of the Court of Appeals and remand to the trial court for further proceedings.