FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/23/2018 2:55 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 95423-2

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

IKEIM VASTER, ALBERT REEVES, and TRISTAN BEEMAN,

Appellants,

v.

WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS, DICK MORGAN, DAN PACHOLKE, and BERNIE WARNER,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

HALEY BEACH WSBA #44731 Assistant Attorney General Corrections Division P.O. Box 40116 Olympia, WA 98504 (360) 586-1445 HaleyB@atg.wa.gov

I. INTRODUCTION

The Court of Appeals' unpublished decision recognized a longstanding principle of law: the Department of Corrections' authority to return individuals to prison under RCW 9.94A.633(2)(a) is "separate and distinct" from the community custody sanctioning scheme in RCW 9.94A.737. It further ruled that the Department acted properly when it returned Vaster and his co-plaintiff-appellants to prison for violating their community custody conditions while on supervision subject to RCW 9.94A.633(2)(a). Lower courts routinely reach the same conclusion when ruling on personal restraint petitions regarding this provision, and the superior court had no trouble reaching this conclusion in the initial matter, even under the generous Civil Rule 12(b)(6) pleading standards. Vaster does not satisfy any of the review requirements under RAP 13.4(b). Moreover, the Court of Appeals ruled that Vaster's claims are barred by collateral estoppel and the statute of limitations, which Vaster does not challenge. This Court's review is unnecessary because the Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with other court decisions, there is no confusion among the lower courts, and this case does not present an issue of substantial public interest.

II. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This Court should deny review because this matter does not meet any of the RAP 13.4(b) criteria. However, if the Court were to accept discretionary review, the following issue would be presented:

1. Did the Court of Appeals correctly determine that the Department of Corrections lawfully returned Vaster to prison pursuant to its authority under RCW 9.94A.633(2)(a)?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Vaster was convicted of a felony and sentenced to total confinement in prison. CP 14. State law, RCW 9.94A.728, provides that "[n]o person serving a sentence imposed pursuant to this chapter and committed to the custody of the department shall leave the confines of the correctional facility or be released prior to the expiration of the sentence except" for certain situations, including when an offender earns "early release time as authorized by RCW 9.94A.729." RCW 9.94A.728(1)(a). Under RCW 9.94A.729(5)(a), "[a] person who is eligible for earned early release as provided in this section and who will be supervised by the department pursuant to RCW 9.94A.501 or 9.94A.5011, *shall be transferred to community custody in lieu of earned release time.*" (emphasis added). Vaster was subject to RCW 9.94A.729 and the Department transferred him from prison to community custody in lieu of

earned early release in accordance with this statute. CP 15. Vaster then admittedly violated the conditions of community custody and, following a violation hearing, the Department returned him to total confinement in accordance with RCW 9.94A.633(2)(a). CP 15-16.

Vaster filed a personal restraint petition on this issue, raising his claims challenging the Department's decision to return him to prison for the community custody violations. Both Division Three of the Washington Court of Appeals and this Court's Commissioner rejected these claims, denying the personal restraint petition. *See Matter of Vaster*, No. 90352-2 (March 13, 2015); *In re Pers. Restraint of Vaster*, Washington Court of Appeals No. 32068-5-III (May 20, 2014); CP 35-52.

Approximately one year later, Vaster filed a complaint against the Department, alleging violations of his Fourth, Fifth, and Fourteenth Amendment rights, and unlawful imprisonment. CP 1-11. Vaster also sought class certification. The Department moved to dismiss. Vaster filed an amended complaint² alleging the same claims and adding two

¹ When considering a Civil Rule 12(b)(6) motion, the courts may take judicial notice of matters of public record. *Berge v. Gorton*, 88 Wn.2d 756, 763, 567 P.2d 187, 192 (1977).

² In his Petition for Review, Vaster cites repeatedly to the original complaint he filed, which his amended complaint superseded and which is not in the appellate record. Such factual allegations were not considered by the trial court or the Court of Appeals, and should not form any basis of this Court's review. *See, e.g., McDonough v. Foster*, 47 Wn.2d 229, 231, 287 P.2d 336, 337 (1955) (prior complaint "abandoned" once amended complaint filed); *Ward v. Ward*, 14 Wn. 640, 643, 45 P. 312, 313 (1896).

additional plaintiffs. CP 12-22. The Department moved to dismiss the amended complaint under Civil Rule 12(b)(6). The court dismissed the matter with prejudice, specifically noting that the sanctions imposed by the Department "are authorized by RCW 9.94A.633(2)(a)," and that nothing in RCW 9.94A.737 precluded the Department from exercising its authority under RCW 9.94A.633(2)(a). CP 121-22. The trial court denied the plaintiffs' motion for reconsideration. CP 128.

On appeal, the Court of Appeals affirmed, specifically holding that: "DOC does maintain [the authority to order their return to total confinement] for offenders such as the petitioners, who are serving a portion of their term of confinement on community custody. This authority remains separate and distinct from RCW 9.94.737. A contrary interpretation would render RCW 9.94A.633(2)(a) meaningless and would defy common sense." *Vaster v. Washington State Dep't of Corr.*, No. 76172-2-I, 2017 WL 5569213, at *2 (Wash. Ct. App. Nov. 20, 2017). The lower courts routinely decide this issue in personal restraint petitions and the Court of Appeals decision is consistent with those rulings. *See*, *e.g.*, *In re Pers. Restraint of Layer*, Washington Court of Appeals No. 50034-5-II (Sep. 29, 2017). Such decisions affect a limited number of incarcerated individuals in this state. The Court should deny review.

IV. ARGUMENT

There is no basis for this Court's review under RAP 13.4(b). The Legislature has granted DOC the authority it exercised under RCW 9.94A.633(2)(a) and the notification scheme described in Vaster's Petition does not implicate due process concerns. The Court of Appeals' decision is not in conflict with a decision of this Court or any published Court of Appeals decision. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2). Nor does this matter present a significant question of law under the Washington or United States Constitutions. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(3). Vaster concedes as much in his Petition by not arguing for review under any of these provisions.

Vaster's only argument in favor of review is that this case presents "an issue of substantial public interest" under RAP 13.4(b)(4). Vaster does not satisfy this standard. Moreover, the Court of Appeals determined that Vaster's claims are barred by collateral estoppel and he does not challenge that determination in his Petition. The Court should deny review.

A. The Court Should Deny Review Because the Court of Appeals Correctly Determined That Collateral Estoppel Bars Vaster's Claims and He Does Not Challenge That Determination

This Court should deny review because Vaster does not challenge the determination that his claims are procedurally barred. The Court of Appeals ruled that Vaster's claims were barred by collateral estoppel and that his false imprisonment claim was barred by the statute of limitations. Vaster has not moved for review of these issues and does not otherwise challenge these rulings. In his unsuccessful personal restraint petition, Vaster asked Division Three of the Court of Appeals and this Court to consider his argument that his return to prison pursuant to RCW 9.94A.633(2)(a) was unlawful. Both courts reviewed the legal and factual circumstances of this claim, and both issued rulings that the Department's actions were lawful. *See* CP 35-52. Collateral estoppel precludes re-litigation of this issue. *See Montana v. United States*, 440 U.S. 147, 153, 99 S. Ct. 970, 59 L. Ed. 2d 210 (1979); *Hanson v. City of Snohomish*, 121 Wn. 2d 552, 564, 852 P.2d 295, 301 (1993). Vaster has not and cannot demonstrate otherwise. The Court should deny review on this basis.³

B. This Issue is Not of Such Substantial Public Interest That This Court's Review is Warranted

This matter does not present an issue of substantial public interest. Courts consistently recognize that the Department has authority to return individuals in Vaster's situation to prison under RCW 9.94A.633(2)(a). While it is true that "[a] decision that has the potential to affect a number

³ Vaster's claims also fail because he cannot bring a 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claim against the Department or a 42 U.S.C. § 1983 damages claim against its official-capacity employees. *See Will v. Mich. Dep't of State Police*, 491 U.S. 58, 66, 109 S. Ct. 2304, 2309, 105 L. Ed. 2d 45 (1989); *Wash. State Republican Party v. Wash. State Pub. Disclosure Comm'n*, 141 Wn.2d 245, 285-86, 4 P.3d 808 (2000). He has never addressed this argument.

of proceedings in the lower courts may warrant review as an issue of substantial public interest if review will avoid unnecessary litigation and confusion on a common issue," *In re Flippo*, 185 Wn.2d 1032, 380 P.3d 413, 414 (2016), that is not the case here because the lower courts are in agreement. A decision of this Court is unnecessary to clarify the issue because the lower courts consistently reach the correct conclusion. Vaster argues that this case presents an issue of significant public interest because the Court of Appeals ruling condones "misleading or deceptive conduct by the State." Petition for Review, at 8. Yet that argument presupposes a conclusion that the Department overstepped its broad authority, which no court has ruled it has and which is unsupported by the facts and laws at issue in Vaster's complaint. The Court should deny review.

C. Individuals Subject to RCW 9.94A.633(2)(a) Have Sufficient Notice that They May be Returned to Prison for Violating Their Community Custody Conditions

Individuals, like Vaster, who are only released to community custody in the first place in lieu of earned early release are on notice that, pursuant to RCW 9.94A.633(2)(a), they may be returned to prison for violating the conditions of this community supervision. Vaster apparently no longer contests the Department's authority to revoke his community supervision, but rather now claims only that the notice of the RCW 9.94A.737 "swift and certain" process rendered the Department's

decision to act under RCW 9.94A.633(2)(a) unfair, and that "more restrictive confinement" does not include prison. Both arguments fail and do not merit further judicial review.

First, nothing in the Legislature's enactment of RCW 9.94A.737's "swift and certain" process eliminated the Department's authority under RCW 9.94A.633(2)(a) to revoke the community custody of offenders transferred to community custody in lieu of earned early release. Instead, in RCW 9.94A.633(2)(a)-(f), the Legislature left community custody revocation and return to prison for the remainder of a sentence as an option for certain classes of offenders, such as those like Vaster, who were serving community custody in lieu of early release time under RCW 9.94A.728. See RCW 9.94A.633(2)(a). A contrary interpretation would render RCW 9.94A.633(2)(a) meaningless. See State v. J.P., 149 Wn.2d 444, 450, 69 P.3d 318 (2003) (courts attempt to interpret statutes to give effect to all language in the statute and to render no portion meaningless or superfluous). As the Court of Appeals pointed out, RCW 9.94A requires notification of the "swift and certain" sanction scheme but there is no notice requirement for sanctions under RCW 9.94A.633(2)(a). In fact, Vaster concedes that he was not entitled to written notice of a potential return to prison under 9.94A.633(2)(a). Pet. Review at 8.

Moreover, individuals subject to this provision are specifically released from prison to community custody in lieu of earned early release. RCW 9.94A.728 and .729 allow for early release, but only under the strict requirements of the statute, and in cases such as Vaster's, only to release to community custody. In re Pers. Restraint of Mattson, 166 Wn.2d 730, 740, 214 P.3d 141, 146 (2009). And, "the statutes make clear that the [Department of Corrections] program allowing community custody in lieu of earned early release is administered by [the Department of Corrections]." Blick v. State, 182 Wn. App. 24, 30, 328 P.3d 952, 955 (2014); see also Mattson, 166 Wn.2d at 739-40. The fact that Vaster did not believe the Department would return him to prison for violating community custody conditions did not eliminate the Department's authority to do so. As the Court of Appeals noted, individuals are presumed to know the law. See State v. Spence, 81 Wn.2d 788, 792, 506 P.2d 293 (1973). This seems particularly obvious when the law they are presumed to know is the one that has allowed their release from prison.⁴ Notice that Vaster was also subject to "swift and certain"

⁴ Additionally, the Department's Earned Release Time policy specifically states: "If an offender has not completed his/her maximum term of total confinement and is subject to a violation hearing for any violation of community custody and is found to have committed the violation, the Department may return the offender to total confinement to serve the remainder of the Prison term." DOC Policy 350.100, *available at* http://www.doc.wa.gov/information/policies/files/350100.pdf.

sanctions for his community custody violations did not change the nature of his community supervision or nullify the other laws that applied to him.

Second, Vaster's continued argument that prison does not qualify as "a more restrictive confinement status" for an offender "to serve up to the remaining portion of the sentence" is baseless. The term "more restrictive confinement" also occurs in RCW 9.95.435(1) and courts have accepted the plain meaning of that term as including confinement in prison. See In re Hudgens, 156 Wn. App. 411, 422, 233 P.3d 566, 571 (2010); see also In re Flint, 174 Wn.2d 539, 551, 277 P.3d 657, 663 (2012). While it is possible that this term may allow for multiple confinement placements more restrictive than community custody, such as work release, it certainly does not rule out prison simply because prison is more restrictive than other confinement options within the Department. The fact that the statute limits the Department's response to revocation or a return to total confinement in other situations does not suggest that total confinement was excluded from the "more restrictive confinement" options the Legislature provided for in RCW 9.94A.633(2). The portion of Vaster's sentence that was "remaining" was his unexpired prison term. It is appropriate that the Department would require individuals such as Vaster to serve "the remaining portion" of their prison sentences in a prison facility. Such application of law does not implicate due process

concerns. *See County of Sacramento v. Lewis*, 523 U.S. 833, 845-49, 118 S. Ct. 1708, 140 L. Ed. 2d 1043 (1998). The Court of Appeals' determination on this point does not warrant review.

V. CONCLUSION

This case does not meet the criteria for review under RAP 13.4(b).

The Department requests that the Court deny Vaster's Petition for Review.